
Area South Committee

Wednesday 5th December 2018

2.00 pm

Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Brympton Way, Yeovil BA20 2HT

(Disabled access and a hearing loop are available at this meeting venue)    

The following members are requested to attend this meeting:

Cathy Bakewell
John Clark
Gye Dibben
John Field
Nigel Gage
Peter Gubbins
Kaysar Hussain

Andy Kendall
Sarah Lindsay
Mike Lock
Tony Lock
Sam McAllister
Graham Oakes
Wes Read

David Recardo
Gina Seaton
Peter Seib
Alan Smith
Rob Stickland

Consideration of planning applications will commence no earlier than 2.45pm. 

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact the Case Services 
Officer (Support Services) on 01935 462011 or democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk

This Agenda was issued on Tuesday 27 November 2018.

Alex Parmley, Chief Executive Officer

This information is also available on our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app

Public Document Pack



Information for the Public

The council has a well-established area committee system and through four area committees 
seeks to strengthen links between the Council and its local communities, allowing planning and 
other local issues to be decided at a local level (planning recommendations outside council 
policy are referred to the district wide Regulation Committee).

Decisions made by area committees, which include financial or policy implications are generally 
classed as executive decisions.  Where these financial or policy decisions have a significant 
impact on council budgets or the local community, agendas will record these decisions as “key 
decisions”. The council’s Executive Forward Plan can be viewed online for details of 
executive/key decisions which are scheduled to be taken in the coming months.  Non-executive 
decisions taken by area committees include planning, and other quasi-judicial decisions.

At area committee meetings members of the public are able to:

 attend and make verbal or written representations, except where, for example, personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed;

 at the area committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for 
up to up to three minutes on agenda items; and

 see agenda reports

Meetings of the Area South Committee are held monthly, usually at 2.00pm, on the first 
Wednesday of the month at the Council Offices, Brympton Way, Yeovil (unless specified 
otherwise).

Agendas and minutes of meetings are published on the council’s website 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions

Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device, install, and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers, then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will be 
required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will be 
viewable offline.

Public participation at committees

Public question time
The period allowed for participation in this session shall not exceed 15 minutes except with the 
consent of the Chairman of the Committee. Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total 
of three minutes.

Planning applications
Consideration of planning applications at this meeting will commence no earlier than the time 
stated at the front of the agenda and on the planning applications schedule. The public and 
representatives of parish/town councils will be invited to speak on the individual planning 
applications at the time they are considered. 

Comments should be confined to additional information or issues, which have not been fully 
covered in the officer’s report. Members of the public are asked to submit any additional 
documents to the planning officer at least 72 hours in advance and not to present them to the 
Committee on the day of the meeting. This will give the planning officer the opportunity to 
respond appropriately. Information from the public should not be tabled at the meeting. It should 

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions


also be noted that, in the interests of fairness, the use of presentational aids (e.g. PowerPoint) 
by the applicant/agent or those making representations will not be permitted. However, the 
applicant/agent or those making representations are able to ask the planning officer to include 
photographs/images within the officer’s presentation subject to them being received by the 
officer at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. No more than 5 photographs/images either 
supporting or against the application to be submitted. The planning officer will also need to be 
satisfied that the photographs are appropriate in terms of planning grounds.

At the committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for up to 
three minutes each and where there are a number of persons wishing to speak they should be 
encouraged to choose one spokesperson to speak either for the applicant or on behalf of any 
supporters or objectors to the application. The total period allowed for such participation on each 
application shall not normally exceed 15 minutes.

The order of speaking on planning items will be:
 Town or Parish Council Spokesperson
 Objectors 
 Supporters
 Applicant and/or Agent
 District Council Ward Member

If a member of the public wishes to speak they must inform the committee administrator before 
the meeting begins of their name and whether they have supporting comments or objections and 
who they are representing.  This must be done by completing one of the public participation slips 
available at the meeting.

In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Committee shall have discretion to vary the 
procedure set out to ensure fairness to all sides. 

Recording and photography at council meetings

Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be overt 
and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording the 
meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting. 

Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. If anyone making public 
representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know.

The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be viewed 
online at:
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of
%20council%20meetings.pdf

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council 
under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on 
behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they 
wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset District Council - 
LA100019471 - 2018.

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


Area South Committee
Wednesday 5 December 2018

Agenda
Preliminary Items

1.  Minutes of previous meeting 

2.  Apologies for absence 

3.  Declarations of Interest 

In accordance with the Council's current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also "prejudicial") in relation to any matter on the 
Agenda for this meeting.  

Members are reminded that they need to declare the fact that they are also a member of a 
County, Town or Parish Council as a Personal Interest.  Where you are also a member of 
Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within South Somerset you must 
declare a prejudicial interest in any business on the agenda where there is a financial benefit or 
gain or advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which would be 
at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset District Council.  

Planning Applications Referred to the District Council’s Regulation Committee 

The following members of this Committee are also members of the Council's Regulation 
Committee:

Councillors Peter Gubbins, Mike Lock, Tony Lock and David Recardo.

Where planning applications are referred by this Committee to the Regulation Committee for 
determination, Members of the Regulation Committee can participate and vote on these items at 
the Area Committee and at Regulation Committee. In these cases the Council's decision-making 
process is not complete until the application is determined by the Regulation Committee.  
Members of the Regulation Committee retain an open mind and will not finalise their position 
until the Regulation Committee.  They will also consider the matter at Regulation Committee as 
Members of that Committee and not as representatives of the Area Committee.

4.  Public question time 

5.  Chairman's announcements 

6.  Reports from representatives on outside organisations 

This is an opportunity for Members who represent the Council on outside organisations to report 
items of interest to the Committee.

Items for discussion

7.  Yeovil Western Corridor Update (Page 6)



8.  Area South - Draft Area Chapter 2019/20 (Pages 7 - 9)

9.  Heart of Wessex Rail Partnership (Executive Decision) (Pages 10 - 13)

10.  Area South Forward Plan (Pages 14 - 15)

11.  Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee (Pages 16 - 17)

12.  Planning Application 18/01265/FUL - Resolution Interiors Ltd George Smith Way 
Brympton (Pages 18 - 30)

Please note that the decisions taken by Area Committees may be called in for 
scrutiny by the Council’s Scrutiny Committee prior to implementation.

This does not apply to decisions taken on planning applications.



Yeovil Western Corridor Update 

Contact Details: Andy Coupe, Somerset County Council 
ajcoupe@somerset.gov.uk

Somerset County Council’s Strategic Manager Infrastructure Programmes (Andy Coupe) will attend the 
meeting to give a quarterly update on the Yeovil Western Corridor Improvements.   

Page 6

Agenda Item 7



Area South – Draft Area Chapter 2019/20

Service Manager: Jan Gamon, Lead Specialist Strategic Planning
Lead Officer: Jan Gamon, Lead Specialist Strategic Planning. 

Anna Maria Lenz, Specialist, Strategic Planning (East/South)
Tim Cook, Locality Manager 

Contact Details: anna-maria.lenz@southsomerset.gov.uk 
tim.cook@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Purpose of the Report

To present the draft Area Chapter for Area South. 

Public Interest

The new operating model will be introduced in January 2019 and the way that area priorities are 
identified and resourced will change. The Committee’s priorities will become a chapter of the council 
plan with resources pulled from across the organisation in Area + teams.  This report gives members 
an opportunity to consider and agree the priorities that will be included in the Area Chapter for 
2019/20. 

Recommendation

That members agree the priorities for the Area to be presented to District Executive for consideration 
for inclusion in the Council Plan. 

Background

The Area+ proposal states that “The Council will become strategy led and data informed”, which puts 
the annual strategic planning process at the heart of driving delivery in the Areas.

The Area+ Implementation plan sets out the new way of addressing area priorities and details how 
resources will be allocated from across the organisation to improve area working. 

Area Plans will be developed for adoption as chapters of the Council Plan in February 2019 and will 
‘go live’ in April of that year. The SLT Sponsor for each area will have an overview of the emerging 
Area Plans.

Draft priorities were identified by members of Area South at a workshop after the July meeting of the 
committee. Content from the workshop, along with information from the latest Area Development plans 
and other service plans has been used as a starting point to develop the Area Chapter.   

Draft Area Chapter - Area South

The priorities for each area have been used to influence the development of the Council Plan for 
2019/20. Some priorities identified clearly have an area focus and are better placed in an Area 
Chapter. For the first time, the Area Chapter attempts to present key projects and areas of work 
planned for the coming year by teams from across the whole organisation. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Delivery plan 

Once the priorities for the area have been agreed, officers with the knowledge, skills and experience 
will develop a delivery plan in consultation with ward members. Delivery plans wlll identify the 
outcomes, milestones, key activities and resources. 

Progress of the delivery plan will be monitored by the Area Committee. The overall approach to 
delivery will be based on the principle that we will enable others to deliver where we can, partner 
where it makes sense and only deliver if absolutely necessary.  

Area+ teams

Officers required to deliver elements of the Area Chapter will become the Area+ team.

Area+ teams can begin to be established as soon as the details of the Area Plans are known. Input 
from Specialists will be needed in the development of the delivery plans. However, many people won’t 
start new roles until January 2019 and the transition period will have an impact on when teams can 
make a start on delivery.

Budgets

Work will be required to align the area budgets and available resources (capital programme, 
appropriate S106, etc) with the new Area Plans.  There needs to be recognition that resources are 
finite and will be allocated according to need. Any new work will be assessed in order to establish 
relative priorities. 

Next Steps

 Draft council plan workshops with Scrutiny and DX in week beginning 7th January

 Final Council Plan for adoption in February (SLT: 21st Jan; Scrutiny: 5th Feb; DX: 7th Feb; Full 
Council: 26th Feb)

The SLT sponsor for Area South is Martin Woods who will be an advocate for the Area Plan through 
the adoption process and maintain an overview of progress. The SLT sponsor will provide high level 
input into the development of Area Plans making sure that they contribute towards the broader aims of 
the council and take account of relevant regional and national policy.    

Financial Implications

There are no new financial implications arising directly from this report.  

Corporate Priority Implications 

The priorities have been developed taking into account the SSDC Corporate plan priorities. 

Carbon Emissions & Adapting to Climate Change Implications (NI188)

This is considered on an individual project and programme basis as appropriate. The overall priority is 
to seek to create more balanced communities where people can live, work and get access to the 

Page 8



services and facilities they need on a daily basis. Area working (Area+) helps to improve access to 
facilities, activities and services, reducing the need to travel.

Equality and Diversity Implications

This is considered on an individual project and programme basis as appropriate.  All Area Plans will 
have an Equality Impact Assessment.  

Background Papers: Area+ proposal, Area + Implementation Plan

Page 9



Heart of Wessex Rail Partnership (Executive Decision)

Director:
Communities Lead:
Lead Officer:

Martin Woods
Helen Rutter
Helen Rutter, Communities Lead

Contact Details: helen.rutter@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01963) 435012

Purpose of the Report

To receive a summary of the work undertaken by the Heart of Wessex Rail Partnership during 
2017/18.  To consider making a partnership contribution for 2018/19.

Public Interest

Yeovil Pen Mill is on the Bristol/Weymouth line.  The Partnership actively supports community 
involvement in improving the stations and encouraging local communities and visitors to utilise the line 
for a wide range of trips and journeys.  The Partnership is resourced by contributions from Local 
Authorities, match funded by the rail operator Great Western Railway and a large group of volunteers 
who offer their time and expertise.  

Recommendations

That Members:

1) Note the service issues that have affected the line.
2) Note the work undertaken by the Partnership in 2017/18 and that a similar report is being taken 

to Area East Committee.
3) Approve a funding contribution of £1,000 from the Transport Scheme Grants budget for 

2018/19.

Background

Accountability and financial support for the Heart of Wessex Rail Partnership is shared between Area 
East Committee (2 stations along the line) and Area South Committee (one station).

The line has been supported by a Partnership of Local Authorities along the route since 1998 but was 
revised and expanded in 2003, with an action plan to:

1) Widen the Partnership to include local communities and to improve the understanding of and 
response to local needs along the line

2) Improve quality and availability of information promoting the line and its destinations and raise 
the profile of the service as an alternative to the private car

3) Improve station environments & facilities and access to them by other modes of travel

In the last 15 years the Partnership has developed its community arm achieving significant station 
investment, improvements to access, promotion and better information from local community groups 
along the line, including a large number of regular volunteers.  Community Working Parties with the 
TOC and Network Rail are organised by the Partnership, to discuss and prioritise community 
aspirations.

In October 2011 the line was designated a Community Rail Service, in recognition of its strong support 
from partner authorities and communities themselves.  This gives greater freedom to the operator and 
community in running the service and stations.  The national objectives for community rail 

Page 10

Agenda Item 9



development are to increase revenue, manage down costs and encourage greater community 
involvement in the local railway.

Summary of Line performance 2017/18 

I reported last year that passenger growth on the line had slowed dramatically in 2016/17 and that 
there was a rising and unacceptable level of service disruption linked to electrification work elsewhere 
in the Region, which was likely to be a factor in this slow down, along with the limiting factors caused 
by the infrequent service provided and short trains.

This service disruption was a matter of great concern and was taken up with GWR, by the Chairman of 
the Partnership, in late 2017.  Unfortunately the situation continued to deteriorate in 2018 and this led 
to the former Leader, Cllr Ric Pallister, writing to GWR in May 2018 to raise our concerns more 
formally.  In September the CEO also reiterated these concerns with DfT, Office of Rail and Road and 
Transport Focus.

Below is a summary of the response to date from Mark Hopwood, the Managing Director of GWR:

 He apologises for poor performance on the route and says it has not been good enough and 
that the route is important to them

 The route has been severely impacted by the volume of short notice and major upgrade works 
in the wider region linked to the unprecedented programme of infrastructure improvement in 
the region, including new train fleets (this means “cascaded” turbo trains on our line) and 
retraining of drivers and crew

 GWR have a joint performance plan with Network Rail that is being implemented, now that 
door modifications are complete on the local fleet, this should result in improved reliability

 They are working to improve performance and rebuild customer numbers.  They have 
upgraded all their on-station help points

Comparative passenger numbers and reliability data for the Heart of Wessex Line is summarised 
below:

 Passenger numbers for 2017/18 were 2,047,000 a reduction of over 3% on 2016/17.  This was 
the first decline, following consistent passenger growth over the 2002/16 period, which saw a 
tripling of passenger numbers 

 The figures available to date for 2018/19, compared with the same period for the previous year, 
shows a drop of over 132,000 journeys, which is down by over 10%.  It is likely that the poor 
reliability of the service is a major factor in this sharp decline

 Train Reliability figures on this line hit a low of less than 58% PPM* at the end of 2017/18.  This 
compares with a GWR average consistently over 80%.  It has since stabilised and shown a 
slight improvement with the most recent pair of 4-weekly figures coming in at 62% and 70% 
PPM
(*this means the number of trains, which ran their entire planned journey and arrived at their 
terminating station within 5 minutes of being on-time in a 4-week period) 

GWR have a lot of work to do to restore passenger confidence in the line and provide a consistent and 
reliable service. 

Partnership Work and Programmes
 
Given the above situation, promotion of the line is problematic:

Page 11



 The Line guide produced 3 times a year, along with the excellent website, is the mainstay of 
line promotion, along with eye-catching posters Seize the Sunday, which encourage the public 
to take advantage of year round Sunday services

 The Rail Partnership Officer worked with Sally Freemantle on promotion across the 2 
Community Rail Partnerships (Heart of Wessex and Blackmore Vale) for the Yeovil Town 
Guide.  Yeovil Country Park is shown on the cover of the current Line guide (September to end 
December 2018) with a feature on Super Saturday and details of the Yeovil Lantern Parade 
and Christmas markets

 The project with Cambian Lufton College continued to Spring 2018.  It brought students and 
their tutors to the station frontage area once a fortnight during term time, to carry out litter 
picking and cleaning and to undertake some planting and sowing.  The tutors appreciated the 
opportunity for students to improve their coordination skills, to work together and to socialise 
with new people.  A planter in the form of a small train has been dedicated to them and is 
replanted at intervals, with the students choosing and bedding the plants and learning about 
their different characteristics

 There are 5 Sunday trains running throughout the year.  The main gap is not having an early 
train up from Weymouth on a Sunday.  GWR are still conducting feasibility work to achieve a 
train departing Weymouth at 8.20 am 

 Yeovil residents can now make trips to Weymouth on Sundays out of the peak summer period 
and this has taken some of the pressure off the Saturday trains, which could be prone to 
overcrowding between mid-September and mid-May.  Yeovil features as one of the 
destinations along the line worth visiting on a Sunday for both the Country Park and Sunday 
shopping opportunities.  Extended ticket office opening hours is also of more general benefit as 
this appears to be developing into a popular day to eg: collect tickets that have been bought 
online or to seek advice on journey options from speaking to the staff

 The northbound Sunday services, running from April 2018, allows a full day out in Bath or 
Bristol

 Some services linking through from the Waterloo line, run by South West Trains, were 
launched in 2016/17.  Further improvements to the timetable were envisaged for December 
2018.  Unfortunately South West Trains has not been able to implement any additional 
services to London from Yeovil (some routed via Bruton, Castle Cary and Frome) due to the 
embargo on timetable changes imposed by DfT following issues elsewhere in the country

 As reported last year, GWR have awarded a £50k contribution of Customer and Communities 
Infrastructure Fund (CCIF) towards the Lyde Road Pedestrian and Cycleway scheme, to give 
improved accessibility to Yeovil Pen Mill station.  This scheme is necessary to facilitate the 
sustainable housing extension to the North and will receive funding through developer 
contributions.  SSDC allocated £250k to enable a complete through route.  This is a Highways 
scheme that is delayed by factors including the significant highway works undertaken in the 
Lyde Road area last year.  It is currently uncertain when SCC will be able to include this project 
in their highways work programme, but the GWR money is at risk if a start is not made in 
2018/19 

Funding Support

The annual running cost of the Partnership in 2017/18 was £65,764.  This covers: the salary of the 
Rail Partnership Officer; the printing and promotion of the line guide; upgrades to the Partnership 
website and a local grants scheme of up to £10,000 pa to enable the Partnership to match fund local 
community-led station initiatives.  

There is a formal Partnership Agreement through which the Unitary/County Authorities with 
responsibility for Local Transport Plans put in the greatest contribution and participating Districts a 
lesser amount.  The biggest annual funding contributor is Great Western Railway at £34,132 although 

Page 12



they are not signatories to the partnership agreement.  The total funding expected in 2018/19 is 
£75,606 including a short term award of £10,000 from Cross Country Trains for small projects.
  
Financial Implications

There is £1000 provision in the Transport Scheme Grants budget for 2018/19.  Under the terms of the 
Partnership Agreement it is requested that this sum is awarded as a Partnership contribution by the 
Committee for the current financial year.  
Corporate Priority Implications 

4.  Ensure safe, sustainable & cohesive communities

Carbon Emissions & Climate Change Implications 
Maximising train travel reduces car journeys and congestion and therefore has a beneficial effect on 
carbon emissions

Equality and Diversity Implications

A local train service provides these towns with an alternative to car travel for people without their own 
independent transport.  The Partnership has produced its line guide in large format type for easy 
reading and this is replicated on its website.  The train stations themselves have limited access for 
those with mobility problems on certain platforms.

Background papers

Report to ASC November 2017;

Page 13



Area South Committee Forward Plan 

Communities Lead: Helen Rutter, Communities Lead
Service Manager: Natalie Fortt, Area Development Lead - South
Agenda Co-ordinator: Jo Boucher, Case Services Officer – Support Services
Contact Details: jo.boucher@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462011

Purpose of the Report

This report informs Members of the agreed Area South Forward Plan.

Recommendations 

Members are asked to:-

1. Comment upon and note the proposed Area South Forward Plan as attached at 
Appendix A.

2. Identify priorities for further reports to be added to the Area South Forward Plan, 
developed by the SSDC lead officers

Area South Committee Forward Plan 

The forward plan sets out items and issues to be discussed by the Area Committee over the 
coming months. 

The forward plan will be reviewed and updated each month, by the joint lead officers from 
SSDC, in consultation with the Area Committee Chairman.  It is included each month with the 
Area Committee agenda, where members of the Area Committee may endorse or request 
amendments. 

Members of the public, councillors, service managers, and partners may request an item is 
placed within the forward plan for a future meeting, by contacting the Democratic Services 
Officer.

Background Papers

None

Page 14

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A
Notes

(1) Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed, due to the attendance of additional representatives.
(2) For further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area South Committee, please contact the Democratic 

Services Officer; Jo Boucher.

Meeting Date Agenda Item Background/ Purpose Lead Officer

2nd January 2019 Please note this meeting will only be held if there 
are planning applications to be determined

6th February 2019 Somerset Highways – 
maintenance 
programme

A six monthly update report on the current and 
expected highways maintenance programme in 
Area South

Mike Fear, Assistant Highway 
Service Manager, South Somerset 
Highways

Area Plan Report The development of the Area Plan Tim Cook, Locality Manager

Citizens Advice South 
Somerset (CASS) 
Presentation

Presentation from Citizens Advice South 
Somerset

Angela Kerr, CEO or Kim Watts 
Client Services Manager, CASS

Yeovil Crematorium Presentation on the refurbishment/design of the 
Crematorium.

Chris Cooper, Environment 
Services Manager

6th March 2019 Yeovil Refresh and 
Economic Development 
Update Report 

Update on the Yeovil Refresh and Economic 
Development

Natalie Fortt, Regeneration 
Programme Manager/ Peter 
Paddon Lead Specialist, Economy

TBC Future demand and 
requirements for 
Education in Yeovil

To discuss future demand and requirements for 
education, in particular the requirement for future 
secondary school places.

Somerset County Council, 
Education 

P
age 15



Schedule of Planning Applications to be determined by Committee

Director: Martin Woods, Director - Service Delivery
Service Manager: Simon Fox, Lead Specialist - Planning
Contact Details: simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report 

The schedule of planning applications sets out the applications to be determined by Area South 
Committee at this meeting.

Recommendation 

Members are asked to note the schedule of planning applications. 

Please note: Consideration of planning applications will commence no earlier than 2.45pm.

Members of the public who wish to speak about a particular planning item are recommended to arrive 
for 2.30pm.

SCHEDULE

Agenda 
Number Ward Application Brief Summary

of Proposal Site Address Applicant

12 BRYMPTON 18/01265/FUL

The erection of 1 
commercial unit and the 
erection of an extension 
to existing unit with 
associated parking and 
turning facilities

Resolution Interiors 
Ltd George Smith 
Way Brympton

LC Pension 
Properties 
Ltd

Further information about planning applications is shown below and at the beginning of the main 
agenda document.

The Committee will consider the applications set out in the schedule.  The Planning Officer will give 
further information at the meeting and, where appropriate, advise members of letters received as a result 
of consultations since the agenda had been prepared.

Referral to the Regulation Committee

The inclusion of two stars (**) as part of the Development Manager’s recommendation indicates that the 
application will need to be referred to the District Council’s Regulation Committee if the Area Committee 
is unwilling to accept that recommendation.

The Lead Planning Officer, at the Committee, in consultation with the Chairman and Solicitor, will also 
be able to recommend that an application should be referred to District Council’s Regulation Committee 
even if it has not been two starred on the Agenda.

Page 16

Agenda Item 11



Human Rights Act Statement

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful, subject to certain expectations, for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention Right. However when a planning decision is to be 
made there is further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. Existing 
planning law has for many years demanded a balancing exercise between private rights and public 
interest and this authority's decision making takes into account this balance.  If there are exceptional 
circumstances which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues then 
these will be referred to in the relevant report.

Page 17



Officer Report On Planning Application: 18/01265/FUL

Proposal :  The erection of 1 commercial unit and the erection of an extension to 
existing unit with associated parking and turning facilities.

Site Address: Resolution Interiors Ltd  George Smith Way Brympton
Parish: Brympton  
BRYMPTON Ward (SSDC 
Member)

Cllr S Lindsay Cllr P Seib

Recommending Case 
Officer:

April Waterman 
Tel: 01935 462499 Email: april.waterman@southsomerset.gov.uk

Target date : 10th August 2018  
Applicant : LC Pension Properties Ltd
Agent:
(no agent if blank)

Mr Jeff Martin Boon Brown Architects
Motivo
Alvington
Yeovil
BA20 2FG

Application Type : Major Manfr f/space 1,000 sq.m or 1ha+

Reason for Referral to Committee

This application for planning permission is presented to the Area South Committee for determination 
because the Council is (by being a partner in the Lufton 2000 Joint Venture) a part-owner of part of the 
site, and the application is not for a small-scale proposal.   In consequence the application does not fall 
within the scope of decisions that may be delegated to the Lead Specialist under the Council's Scheme of 
Delegation, specifically as set out in Part 3 Section 6 function 151, part (e) of the Constitution.     
 
Site Description and Proposal

Page 18

Agenda Item 12



This irregularly shaped site lies to the west of George Smith Way, within the extended Lufton Business 
Park (KS/BRYM/1 Land at Lufton) on the north-western edge of Yeovil.   The site is bounded on the south 
by other employment development, to the west and south west by mature tree cover with Lufton College 
land beyond, to the north by open grassland which forms part of the extension to the Lufton Business Park 
(permitted in outline in 2010) and to the east George Smith Way separates the site from further Business 
Park land.   

The plot slopes generally downhill from its north-east corner, with the southern arm already built out as a 
warehouse with offices together with extensive hard-surfaced car parking and some landscaping.  The 
northern arm of the site is undeveloped except for the creation of a surface water storage pond on the 
western part. Two pairs of substantial oak trees stand on the western edge and just to the north of the site 
respectively, and a significant Lime tree is located in the crook of the plot, to the north of the existing 
building.  All five trees are protected by TPO.  The two parts of the site are separated by a ditch running 
east-west along the boundary of the original Lufton Business Park.  

The existing Resolution Interiors building is a brick and profiled metal sheeting structure, of simple 
rectangular form, punctuated by full height and smaller scale fenestration and a roller shutter door, with a 
shallow pitched roof (ridge height 7m).  The footprint of the building covers approximately 1366 m². The 
space inside is set out as full height storage for the majority of the ground floor, with offices and staff 
facilities taking up about the remaining third, together with additional office space on a mezzanine above 
this.  

The site falls within the Yeovil Urban Framework, on land allocated for employment (KS/BRYM/1 Land at 
Lufton) in the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028.  The site comprises Grade 3a Agricultural 
land, within Flood Zone 1, and is identified as potentially contaminated. The plot lies to the immediate east 
of land forming the curtilage of Lufton Manor College, which is a Grade II Listed Building, and it is within 
the identified setting of the registered historic landscape at Montacute.  

The proposed development comprises two constructions, together with engineering works to lay out 
access and parking. First a full height extension is proposed on the north face of the existing building of 

Page 19



just under 368 m² footprint, to increase its warehouse capacity. A new roller shutter door is indicated, and 
the interior is shown lit by roof lights in the north-facing roof plane.  Second a new stand-alone building of 
880m² is proposed to be located on the northern eastern part of the site, backing onto its northern 
boundary.  This building would be of marginally lower ridge height (6.68m) although being positioned on 
the slightly higher ground would appear comparable with the existing building to its south.  Similar materials 
are proposed for this building to its neighbour, comprising brick, profiled metal sheeting and dark-finished 
metal framing for glazed areas and doors.  The design of the structure shows it split into three warehousing 
units, each with roller shutter doors and personal doors, full height glazing on the south elevation, roof 
lights on the north-facing roof plane, and kitchen and WC staff facilities.  The eastern-most unit also shows 
an office and reception area.  It is understood that the building could be operated as a single entity or be 
split into two or three units, although the façade design indicates four signage locations.  It is further 
understood that all or parts of the new unit 2 and the extended unit 1 may or may not be operated by the 
same business.  The access within the site linking its two sections may be closed, if the buildings are 
occupied separately.   

The submitted layout plans have been corrected and amended on request a number of times, to show 
visibility splays, lorry turning space, car parking, cycle parking, electric vehicle charging points, drainage 
arrangements and indicative landscaping areas, as well as an altered footprint for the extension to the 
existing building, to accommodate the line of underground drainage infrastructure. The application is 
supported by a Design and Access Statement, a Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment, and 
an Ecological Appraisal.  The agent has confirmed that locker and shower facilities will be available within 
the proposed buildings.   

HISTORY

99/02363 Development of land for employment purposes within classes B1, B2 and B8. Permitted (in 
outline) 26.02.2000. 
00/01766/S73 Development of land for employment purposes without compliance with conditions 5 and 6 
of permission referenced 99/02363/R3D. Permitted 02.11.2000
02/01777/REM Erection of a warehouse with offices. Approved 17.10.2002.
06/04559/OUT Extension to Use Class B1/B2/B8 Business Park. Permitted 15.03 2010.

CONSULTATIONS

Brympton Parish Council 
Initial plans: Recommends APPROVAL of the application. 
Amended plans: Recommends APPROVAL of the application.

Environment Agency
Comments awaited

SCC Highways
Standing advice applies   

SSDC Highway Consultant
Initial plans: I recommend the following: (a) The plans should indicate the extent of visibility splays at the 
existing access, (b) a swept path analysis of an articulated vehicle turning into and out of the site and 
manoeuvring within the two turning circles, (c) justification for the level of on-site car parking (from my 
calculations Building 1 requires 7 spaces under a B1 use and Building 2 requires 15 spaces), (d) the 
provision of an electric vehicle charging point for each site. I recommend amended plans and justification 
are submitted addressing the above matters.

Amended plans:  I have reviewed the amended plans. From the GFAs set out in the application form, the 
proposed car parking provision is still over-provided when referring to the SPS optimum standards but I 
would be minded to accept the current proposed provision/layout given the issues of on-road parking at 
Houndstone. Disabled parking provision exceeds the minimum levels so that element is acceptable. Two 
motorcycle spaces should be provided within the site but these could take place in one of the car parking 
spaces. From my calculations, there should be 22 cycle parking spaces provided but only 15 are shown. 
Cycle parking should ideally be undercover, using Sheffield stands and located in a position that offers 

Page 20



natural surveillance. In addition, to encourage cycling as a mode of travel, showers and lockers should be 
provided within the buildings. I note there are bus services that operate within 800m of the site.

SSDC Environmental protection
I have no comments.

SSDC Trees Officer
Initial plans: I have noted the incursion of proposed parking spaces within the radial Root Protection Area 
of TPO'd Lime T6.  However, the relatively modest square metre-age affected could be considered 
acceptable, subject to the avoidance of excavations and the careful installation of permeable surfacing 
upon an anti-compaction sub-base.

There has been quite a significant number of tree removals (approximately x 37 trees plus the removal of 
numerous under-storey species) recently carried out at this site.  A significant belt of early-mature trees 
has been recently felled on-site.  Whilst the proposed layout appears to indicate some tree and shrub 
plantings, there appears to be opportunities to carry out a rather more ambitious planting scheme to 
enhance the site.  The existing plantings surrounding the existing building appear rather shrubby, lacking 
stature and architectural form that could compliment the adjoining built-structure without obscuring the 
windows or causing a nuisance.  There are existing large expanse of impermeable hard-surfacing on-site 
- I hope the proposal will provide an attractive business environment.  I would have no objections to the 
proposal, subject to imposing suitable conditions.  May I suggest the following:

Tree & Hedgerow Protection Condition: Prior to commencement of the development, site vegetative 
clearance, demolition of existing structures, ground-works, heavy machinery entering site or the on-site 
storage of materials, a scheme of tree and hedgerow protection measures (to specifically include details 
of the phased installation of no-dig anti-compaction permeable hard-surfacing within the designated Root 
Protection Area of the Lime tree described within the application as 'T6') shall be prepared by a suitably 
experienced and qualified arboricultural consultant in accordance with British Standard 5837: 2012 - Trees 
in relation to design, demolition and construction and submitted to the Council for their approval.  Upon 
approval in writing from the Council, the tree and hedgerow protection measures (specifically the 
installation of fencing and signage) shall be installed and made ready for inspection.  A site meeting 
between the appointed building/groundwork contractors and a representative of the Council (to arrange, 
please call: 01935 462670) shall then be arranged at a mutually convenient time.  The locations and 
suitability of the tree and hedgerow protection measures shall be inspected by a representative of the 
Council and confirmed in-writing by the Council to be satisfactory prior to any commencement of the 
development (including groundworks).  The approved tree and hedgerow protection requirements shall 
remain implemented in their entirety for the duration of the construction of the development and the 
protective fencing and signage may only be moved or dismantled with the prior consent of the Council in-
writing.
Reason: To preserve the health, structure and amenity value of existing landscape features (trees and 
hedgerows) in accordance with the Council's policies as stated within The South Somerset Local Plan 
(2006 - 2028); EQ2: General Development, EQ4: Bio-Diversity & EQ5: Green Infrastructure. 

Tree & shrub planting condition: No works shall be undertaken until there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, a scheme of tree and shrub planting. Such a scheme 
shall confirm the use of planting stock of UK-provenance only, the planting locations, numbers of individual 
species, sizes at the time of planting, details of root-volumes and the approximate date of planting. The 
installation details regarding ground-preparation, weed-suppression, staking, tying, strimmer-guarding and 
mulching shall also be included within the scheme. All planting comprised in the approved details shall be 
carried out within the next planting season following the commencement of any aspect of the development 
hereby approved; and if any trees or shrubs which within a period of ten years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or in the opinion of the Council, become seriously damaged or diseased, 
they shall be replaced by the landowner in the next planting season with trees/shrubs of the same 
approved specification, in the same location; unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to 
any variation.
Reason: To ensure the planting of new trees and shrubs in accordance with the Council's statutory duties 
relating to The Town & Country Planning Act, 1990 (as amended)[1] and the following policies of The 
South Somerset Local Plan (2006 - 2028); EQ2: General Development, EQ4: Bio-Diversity & EQ5: Green 
Infrastructure.

Page 21



Amended plans:  The reduction of hard-surfacing within the Root Protection Area of the Lime is welcome, 
as are the indications of some tree plantings.  I quite understand the desire to avoid linear swathes of trees 
in order to maintain cohesion between the two buildings.  I would recommend well-spaced individual tree 
plantings - perhaps more widely dispersed across the entirety of the car-parking areas to break up the 
expanse of hard-surfacing.  The thoughtful design of the planting pits could quite easily combine further 
benefits of surface-water attenuation without causing disruption to adjoining parking provision.  If consent 
is to be granted, I would be grateful if you could consider applying both of the conditions previously 
recommended.   I'm confident the benefits of some reasonably tough-growing trees - capable of 
sustainably providing a cooling environment for parked cars; would be greatly appreciated by both visitors 
and staff. 

LLFA
Amended plans:  I apologise for the LLFA's comments being late.  We have no issue with the amended 
plans consultation which addresses the additional surface water storage required. 

REPRESENTATIONS

The application was publicised by press notice and by the display of a site notice, and notification letters 
were sent to 5 adjoining and nearby addresses. The following comments were received in response:  

I would like to make comment as follows on behalf of the National Trust...(with an identical comment to 
the planning application for a builder's merchant nearby)
-The Montacute Setting Study 2009 indicates that Lufton trading estate lies within the identified setting of 
the registered historic landscape at Montacute.
-New development in the trading estate's extension area could potentially be visible from St Michael's Hill 
and impact on the setting of the registered landscape.
-The trading estate's extension area is understood to be supported in principle through saved Local Plan 
policy.
It is requested that any development coming forward in this area respects the views and setting of the 
Montacute registered landscape, for example with appropriate building heights and external materials and 
finishes.
-In addition, as many existing trees should be retained as possible, and space should be made available 
for new tree planting to screen and soften the new development.
-Finally, any external lighting, particularly new flood lighting, should be tightly controlled in terms of its light 
spill and hours of operation.  

POLICY

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 together govern how the Council makes decisions on planning 
applications.  To the extent that development plan policies are material to an application for planning 
permission the decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless there are material 
considerations that indicate otherwise.   

Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended) requires that a 
Local Planning Authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the 
proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.  

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) requires 
that "In considering whether to grant planning permission or permission in principle for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of 
State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses."

The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 was replaced with a new version in July 2018.  This 
document is a material consideration in planning decisions.  While the Framework should be read as a 
whole, attention is drawn here to the relevance of particular Chapters and paragraphs contained within it.

Page 22



National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 11: Making effective use of land
Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places
Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028)
The development plan comprises the South Somerset Local Plan 2006-2028 (adopted March 2015), the 
Strategic Objectives and policies of which (that are relevant to this application) are set out below:
Strategic Objectives 1, 4, 5, 7 and 8
Policy SD1 - Sustainable development
Policy SS1 - Settlement strategy
Policy SS3 - Delivering new employment land
Policy TA1 - Low carbon travel
Policy TA3 - Sustainable travel at Chard and Yeovil
Policy TA4 - Travel plans
Policy TA5 - Transport impact of new development
Policy TA6 - Parking standards
Policy EQ1 - Addressing climate change in South Somerset
Policy EQ2 - General development
Policy EQ3 - Historic environment
Policy EQ4 - Biodiversity
Policy EQ5 - Green infrastructure
Policy EQ7 - Pollution Control

Somerset County Council Parking Strategy (September 2013) and Standing Advice (June 2017) are 
relevant to the interpretation of Policy TA6 above. 

CONSIDERATIONS

The key considerations in this case are:
o Whether in principle this proposal in this location is acceptable, serves to progress the Strategic 
Objectives of the Local Plan, and comprises sustainable development;
o What impacts the development would have on residential amenity or on the local environment, and  
whether these would be acceptable, and 
o Whether the development would maximise opportunities for sustainable transport in the area, and 
whether it would affect the safety and convenience of all highway users.   

Principle of development
The site is located on George Smith Way, which is a new route serving developments in the Lufton 
Business Park (as extended).  This is an area of existing and allocated Use Class B employment land 
(KS/BRYM/1 Land at Lufton) within the Urban Framework of Yeovil, where the principle of new 
development is accepted and focussed (policies SD1, SS1 and SS3).  This application is for the erection 
of new employment floorspace, and is considered to assist in fulfilment of the Local Plan allocation of the 
land for this purpose.  The density of use on the size of site represents a reasonably efficient use of the 
land, given the constraints on and around it relating to protected trees, landscaping expectations, surface 
water drainage features and heritage impacts.  It is considered that the proposed development would 
achieve an economic objective, and by increasing the supply of good quality business use class premises 
to help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt, as set out in paragraph 
80 of the NPPF 2018.  The location of the proposed development site adjoins similar development, to 
enable collaborative operations with other businesses, and is within reasonable distance of residential 
areas, and of public transport links, to enable sustainable modes of transport for workers to travel to the 
site.  It is considered that, subject to safeguards on environmental matters, the proposed development 
would comprise sustainable development, in accordance with guidance set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF 
2018.  In principle, therefore, the proposal supports the Council's expectations for the provision of 

Page 23



employment land, and is considered to comply with the relevant Local Plan Strategic Objectives, with 
Policies SD1, SS1 and SS3, and with the advice contained in the NPPF 2018, as identified above.   

Impacts on amenity and the environment 
Policy EQ2 of the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 requires that development proposals 
should protect the residential amenity of neighbouring properties, and paragraph 124 f) of the NPPF 2018 
advises that planning decisions should create places that are, among other things, of a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users.  The proposed development would take place in a location allocated 
for employment purposes in the Local Plan, where the impact and effect of business activity on any nearby 
residential property has already been judged to be acceptable in planning terms.  No objections have been 
received from the residents of nearby housing.  The scheme is considered to comply with this requirement 
of Policy EQ2, and with the objective of the NPPF guidance. 

Other assessment criteria for this scheme set out in Local Plan policies EQ1, EQ2, EQ3, EQ4, EQ5 and 
EQ7 echo the expectations of guidance in the NPPF in relation to impacts and effects on the environment.    

The proposal addresses climate change in a number of respects. The elevation drawings indicate roof-
mounted solar or photovoltaic panels on the south-facing roof slopes of the proposed buildings.  Details of 
these items and any other energy-generation or resource-saving embedded fabric or attached apparatus 
may be secured under the recommended conditions relating to external finishes and installations.  The 
proposal also includes an appropriate drainage strategy to deal with surface water from the new areas of 
hard surface (roofs and paved areas), to protect the water environment and address flood risk.  Provision 
is indicated for electric vehicle charging points, and for cycle parking on the site, together with a 
commitment to provide shower and locker facilities to encourage staff to adopt low/zero emissions and 
unpowered modes of transport.   The proposed development is considered to be capable of compliance 
with the terms and objectives of Strategic Objectives 1 and 7, and Policies EQ1, EQ2 and EQ5 of the 
adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028, and with guidance contained within the NPPF 2018.  

The proposed buildings would follow the general form and height of other existing and permitted 
industrial/warehouse/office buildings on the Lufton Business Park, and in this respect would be appropriate 
for their employment land context. The layout of parking, access and landscaping areas within the site is 
considered to reflect the plot ratio (built form: space), density of activity and appearance typical of these 
land uses.  The site forms the western edge of the business park where it meets the open countryside and 
the grounds of Lufton Manor College, and the safeguarding, retention and enhancement of the tree and 
hedge growth along this boundary is considered to be crucial in ensuring an appropriate junction between 
these land uses.  The recommended tree protection and landscaping conditions should secure this 
outcome.  No details of lighting within the site for ease of activity or for security have been provided, but it 
is considered that with careful placement, choice of luminance and cast restrictions on lighting the site can 
offer a safe environment without causing light pollution into areas of tranquillity or darkness that it would 
be desirable to maintain, nor have a harmful impact on the setting of heritage assets at close or longer 
range.   

The development site abuts the curtilage of the Grade II listed Lufton Manor and is identified as being 
within the setting of the Montacute estate historic landscape - Montacute House is a Grade I Listed 
Building, and its formal gardens and surrounding parkland comprise a Grade I registered Park and Garden.  
The significance of these heritage assets, the contribution made to their significance by their settings, and 
the impact that proposed industrial/warehousing/office development on this site would be likely to have on 
that significance (and the appreciation of it) would have been assessed in the preparation, public 
examination and adoption of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028, with regard to the allocation, 
with any necessary restriction, of land for employment development at Lufton. As the allocation was 
included in the adopted plan, the impacts and effects of the proposed development have been assumed 
to be acceptable either because they are not harmful, or because any harm has been considered to be 
outweighed by the benefits of bringing forward employment land at this location.   The request made to 
the Local Planning Authority to consider building height, materials selection, lighting and landscaping are 
all entirely reasonable, and as set out above and below these aspects of the proposed development are 
judged to be acceptable, or to be capable of being acceptable (with safeguarding conditions on any 
planning permission granted) in terms of the great weight to be afforded to the conservation and 
enhancement of these heritage assets.  It is considered that with such conditions, the scheme would and 
could comply with the terms and objectives of the Local Plan Strategic Objective 8 and Policies EQ2 and 

Page 24



EQ3, and guidance contained within the NPPF 2018. 
 
The application was accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal of the site (updated during the consideration 
of the scheme) together with recommendations to mitigate any negative impacts that the development 
would have on identified wildlife populations or the actual or potential habitat that the site represents. The 
appraisal found that the southern part of the site, being already developed with a modern building and 
hard standing, largely lacks ecological value, with the exception of some limited bat roosting potential.  The 
grassland, scrub, marshy grassland and trees in the northern half of the site and the boundaries were 
identified as providing some naturalness and permanence, although rarity and fragility are lacking.  The 
report further considered that the habitats on the site are common and widespread within the surrounding 
countryside, although the suitability of the site for, and possible presence of protected species such as 
bats, nesting birds and common reptiles in the grassland, trees and scrub provide sufficient value to prompt 
further investigation and safeguarding.  A number of recommendations are made in the appraisal, for 
further survey, and for habitat enhancement measures, all of which are considered to be appropriate, and 
are therefore, in this case, the subject of a recommended condition.  While it would normally be the case 
that additional survey work to ascertain more definitively the presence or absence of a protected species 
on a site, in this instance, because the appropriate season for undertaking such surveys (March to 
October) has passed, and because the mitigation measures that would safeguard such presence can be 
set out by condition already, it is, exceptionally, recommended that these matters can be dealt with after 
any grant of planning permission.  It is considered, having had regard to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity, that with the appropriate safeguarding and mitigatory measures being implemented as set out 
in the submitted ecological appraisal, the proposed development would be capable of compliance with the 
terms and objectives of Strategic Objective 8 and policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the adopted South 
Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028, and of the guidance contained within the NPPF 2018. 

The application was supported by a Tree Survey and Arboricultural Assessment (updated during the 
consideration of the scheme) which identified and categorised tree cover on and around the site, and set 
out recommendations for tree works required for the implementation of the proposed development, 
including works to lift the crown on the TPO'd Lime Tree located to the north of the existing building.  The 
proposals for construction of the buildings and the laying out of parking hard standing have been amended, 
to better protect the welfare of this Lime.  Other details, of tree protection measures, and the submission 
of a full landscaping scheme for the site, are the subject of recommended conditions.  With these 
safeguards in place, the proposed development could result in an attractive scheme, incorporating and 
augmenting the important tree cover on and around the site, which would bring ecological, shading and 
water environment benefits to the development in addition to conserving the trees for their own natural 
and amenity value.  Careful tree and shrub planting can assist the integration of the proposed development 
with the adjoining Lufton Manor gardens, and with neighbouring open countryside, particularly in longer 
range views, to minimise any impact that the development may have on the setting of the protected 
Montacute Historic Park and Garden.  It is considered that the proposed development would be capable 
of compliance with the terms and objectives of Strategic Objectives 5, 7 and 8  and policies EQ1, EQ2, 
EQ3, EQ4 and EQ5 of the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and of guidance contained 
within the NPPF 2018.   

Although the site has been identified as having potential for contamination, the Environmental Protection 
Officer has no comment to make on the proposed development.  An informative, relating to contingency 
actions in the event of the discovery or disturbance of contaminated land in the course of construction 
work is recommended.  
  
Access and highways
The site is located adjacent to an existing area of business park, served by an immediate and wider 
highway network on the west side of Yeovil that has been and is undergoing extension and improvement 
in capacity and traffic flow terms for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.  As noted above, the proposals 
include or commit to facilities to encourage unpowered and low emission transport means.    The site itself 
is not served by public transport at present, the nearest bus service route being some 800 m distant.     

The application has been amended more than once to address concerns relating to the number and layout 
of private car parking spaces, the provision and location of cycle parking, the extent of visibility splays at 
both points of access onto George Smith Way, and tracking information for lorries entering and leaving 
the site, and turning within it. In its amended form the application is considered to demonstrate that both 

Page 25



access points achieve appropriate visibility (43 metres in each direction) for the speed of the route (30 
mph) and that lorries are able to negotiate the site whether or not it is divided into north and south parts, 
or works on a flow through basis.

The internal floor areas of the resultant buildings guide the optimal number of car parking spaces. The 
estimated mix of floor space uses (office/warehousing) in the existing building (Unit 1) triggers an optimal 
parking requirement of 16 car parking spaces.  The proposed extension and new unit 2, adding 1248m² 
gross floor area, at most brings the optimal additional parking provision for cars to 23 (39 in total) if all new 
floor space were to be devoted to B1 use (prompting 1 car parking space per 55 m²).  This is not the 
indicated case: the extension on Unit 1 is shown as B8 use for which a much lower car parking figure is 
appropriate (1 space per 400 m²).  Notwithstanding the over-provision of parking on the site, the highways 
consultant is content that the development is acceptable.

The proposals show appropriately located and dimensioned parking spaces to be reserved for disabled 
employees/visitors to the site.  The scheme includes the required number of electric vehicle charging points 
for the development, but the applicant has been encouraged to consider the installation of further such 
facilities not only to improve the sustainability of the development but also to further increase the 
attractiveness of the site to potential users.  This matter is addressed by informative, as suggested below. 

Overall the proposed development is considered to accord with and satisfy the requirements of Local Plan 
policies T1, T5 and T6, and to comply with guidance set out in chapter 9 of the NPPF 2018.

CONCLUSION

The proposed development would extend the provision of employment premises within existing and 
appropriately sited employment land, and thereby add to the attractiveness and economic value of the site 
to the town: with suitable safeguards, it would address  appropriately climate change, have an acceptable 
impact on the residential amenity and wider environmental resource of the locality, including the historic 
environment and the biodiversity of the area, and not harm the safety or convenience of users of the local 
highway network, but would instead enable the adoption of sustainable building and operational practices 
and modes of travel.  The proposed development is therefore considered to comprise sustainable 
development, for which there is a presumption in favour.  The proposed development is considered to 
accord with the terms and objectives of policies SD1, SS1, SS3, EP3, TA1, TA5, TA6, EQ1, EQ2 and EQ7 
of the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and with guidance set out in the NPPF 2018. No 
material considerations in the NPPF 2018 or elsewhere indicate that a decision should be made otherwise.

The agent has agreed to the imposition of pre-commencement conditions on any planning permission 
granted relating to the submission and approval of tree protection measures, a landscaping scheme, and 
a Construction Environment Management Plan.  

RECOMMENDATION

To grant planning permission subject to conditions.

01. The proposed development is considered to constitute sustainable development, being located 
appropriately on allocated employment land within the urban framework of Yeovil, having an acceptable 
impact on the amenity of nearby residents and the wider environment, and causing no harm to the safety 
and convenience of all users of the highway network close to the site.  The Council has had regard to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity, and has had special regard to the desirability of preserving nearby 
Listed Buildings and their settings. The scheme, as would be controlled by the recommended conditions, 
is considered to accord with the terms and objectives of national and local planning policy and guidance, 
comprising the NPPF 2018 and the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 with particular regard 
to the following policies: SD1, SS1, SS3, EP3, TA1, TA5, TA6, EQ1, EQ2, EQ3, EQ4, EQ5 and EQ7.

SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date 
of this permission.

Page 26



Reason:  To accord with the provisions of section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents:
Ecological Appraisal prepared by Crossman Associates, referenced B1119.023 issue One, and 
dated 27 March 2018; 
Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by Hellis Arboriculture and Landscape 
Design, referenced 17/10/167/NH, and dated September 2018;
Drainage Strategy prepared by JVT Consulting Engineers Ltd., referenced JVT/JPT/1299, and dated 
13th April 2018; 
Surface Water Disposal Philosophy prepared by JVT Consulting Engineers Ltd., referenced 
JVT/JPT/1290, Revision A and dated 26th February 2018;
Drainage Strategy drawing referenced 1299/001 Stage 4 Rev A dated 03 September 2018;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0001-LOCATION-P1-R2;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0003-SITE-P3-R4;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-B1-XX-DR-A-0004-BUILDING_01-P3-R1;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-B2-XX-DR-A-0005-BUILDING_02-P1-R1;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0007-SECTIONS-P3-R3;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0009-SITE-P3-R2;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0010-LORRY1-P3-R2;
3804-LCPP_YEOVIL-RIL-00-XX-DR-A-0011-LORRY2-P3-R2;

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

03. Prior to the commencement of development on the site, including any demolition or site clearance 
operations, a Construction Environment Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, the content of which shall include details of:
a) the location of a temporary works compound for the storage of building materials, construction 
staff offices and welfare facilities and  storage of construction waste;
b) the points of accesss and egress to and from the site for construction vehicles;
c) parking provision for construction staff;
d) the location and drainage arrangements for vehicle and wheel washing facilities;
e) temporary security fencing or hoardings around the site;
f) the temporary lighting scheme for the site and compound, and hours of illumination;
g) a noise management scheme, including details of construction vehicles' manoeuvring alarms;
h) hours of working within the site, which shall include hours of receipt and dispatch of materials and 
waste to and from the site, and 
i) means of contacting the site manager during and out of working hours, to be displayed on a location 
accessible by the public. 
The construction activities shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, and on 
completion of the construction phase all temporary compound facilities, hoarding, fencing, lighting 
and parking areas shall be removed from the site.   

Reason: to ensure that the development is carried out in a manner that ensures the safety and 
convenience of residents and other users of the locality, and in the interests of the protection of the 
environment, in accordance with policy EQ2 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028.

04. Prior to the commencement of the development, including any site vegetative clearance, demolition 
of existing structures, ground-works, heavy machinery entering the site or the on-site storage of 
materials, a scheme of tree and hedgerow protection measures (to specifically include details of the 
phased installation of no-dig anti-compaction permeable hard-surfacing within the designated Root 
Protection Area of the Lime tree described within the application as 'T6') shall be prepared by a 
suitably experienced and qualified arboricultural consultant in accordance with British Standard 
5837: 2012 - Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction and submitted to the Council 
for its approval.  Upon approval in writing from the Council, the tree and hedgerow protection 
measures (specifically the installation of fencing and signage) shall be installed and made ready for 
inspection.  A site meeting between the appointed building/groundwork contractors and a 
representative of the Council (to arrange, please call: 01935 462670) shall then be arranged at a 

Page 27



mutually convenient time.  The locations and suitability of the tree and hedgerow protection 
measures shall be inspected by a representative of the Council and confirmed in writing by the 
Council to be satisfactory prior to any commencement of the development (including groundworks).  
The approved tree and hedgerow protection requirements shall remain implemented in their entirety 
for the duration of the construction of the development and the protective fencing and signage may 
only be moved or dismantled with the prior consent of the Council in writing.

Reason: To preserve the health, structure and amenity value of existing landscape features (trees 
and hedgerows) in accordance with the terms and objectives of local and national planning policy 
and guidance, as set out in Policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 
2028 and in guidance contained in the NPPF 2018. 

05. Prior to the commencement of the development, including any site vegetative clearance, demolition 
of existing structures, ground-works, heavy machinery entering the site or the on-site storage of 
materials, a scheme of landscaping for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  This scheme shall include details of all existing trees and other vegetation 
on the site that are to be retained, together with a programme of new tree and shrub planting, and a 
management regime for the landscaping to cover the period of five years from the date of planting 
of the last specimen in the approved scheme.  New planting shall comprise planting stock of UK-
provenance only, and the landscaping scheme shall include the planting locations, numbers of 
individual species, sizes at the time of planting, details of root volumes and the approximate intended 
date of planting. The installation details regarding ground preparation, weed suppression, staking, 
tying, strimmer guarding and mulching shall also be included within the scheme. All planting 
comprised in the approved details shall be carried out within the next planting season following the 
commencement of any aspect of the development hereby approved; and if any trees or shrubs which 
within a period of ten years from the completion of the development die, are removed or in the opinion 
of the Council, become seriously damaged or diseased, they shall be replaced by the landowner in 
the next planting season with trees/shrubs of the same approved specification, in the same location; 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure appropriate landscaping of the site, to secure an appropriately high quality 
development in accordance with local and national planning policy and guidance as set out in 
Policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and in guidance 
contained in the NPPF 2018.

06. The recommendations for further survey work, and for the carrying out of mitigation measures, to 
identify and protect the biodiversity resource on and in the vicinity of the site, as set out in the 
Ecological Appraisal prepared by Crossman Associates, dated 27th March 2018 and referenced 
B1119.023, shall be implemented in full.  The findings of survey work, together with a record of the 
nature and implementation of any mitigation measures carried out shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of construction works on the site.  If at this point 
further surveys or mitigation measures are considered to be required in the interests of protected 
species or habitats on the site their scope and timing shall be set out in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and the construction works on the site shall not commence until these surveys and 
mitigation measures have been carried out in full, to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.   

Reason: To ensure the protection of species and habitats on and in the vicinity of the site in 
accordance with British and European law, and in accordance with the terms and objectives of local 
and national planning policy and guidance, as set out in Policies SD1, EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the 
South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028, and in guidance contained in the NPPF 2018.  

07. No construction of the buildings hereby permitted shall be commenced until details of the type, finish 
and colour of all external materials of the buildings shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Page 28



Reason: To secure an appropriately high standard of design and appearance for the development, 
in accordance with the terms and objectives of Policies SD1 and EQ2 of the adopted South Somerset 
Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and of guidance contained within the NPPF 2018.  

08. No energy-generation or -recovery installation, resource re-cycling equipment, flue, chimney, 
extractor or emissions equipment, air conditioning or refrigeration unit or other apparatus, or its 
housing, shall be erected or installed on the external surface of the buildings or elsewhere within the 
site unless details of its location, dimensions, appearance and the nature, level, rate and intensity of 
emissions related to it, and measures to mitigate any harmful or undesirable emissions, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Installation of the apparatus 
including its housing and mitigation shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, and 
shall be so operated and maintained in good working order for the duration of the activity on the site 
for which the apparatus was designed. 

Reason: To secure appropriate safeguards for the amenity of nearby residents and to protect the 
natural environment in the locality in accordance with the terms and objectives of Policies EQ1, EQ2 
and EQ7 of the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and with guidance set out in the 
NPPF 2018. 

09. No part of the development shall be first occupied until a lighting scheme of the site has been 
implemented in accordance with details that shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall include the location and design of lighting units 
and the level, cast area and hours of operation of their illumination. The lighting scheme shall 
demonstrate that its design takes account of the findings and recommendations of the Ecological 
Appraisal, and any consequent requirements relating to the protection of species and habitats on or 
in the vicinity of the site, specified in condition X of this permission.   

Reason: To secure an appropriate lighting scheme for the development, in the interests of crime 
prevention, the character and appearance of the locality, the impact of the development on the 
setting of heritage assets in the area and the preservation of protected species and habitats on or 
using the site and its environs, in accordance with local and national planning policy and guidance 
as set out in Policies SD1, EQ1,EQ2,EQ3, EQ4, EQ5 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan 
2006 - 2028 and in guidance contained in the NPPF 2018.

10. No use of the northern access point onto George Smith Way, and no occupation of the extension to 
Unit 1 or of the new Unit 2 building on the site shall take place until visibility splays measuring 2.4 m 
back from the carriageway edge and 43 m to the carriageway edge to the north and to the south of 
a point central to the access shall have been created for both the northern and southern access 
points identified on the approved plans, such that there is no obstruction to visibility within these 
areas above 0.6 m above the level of the adjoining carriageway.  The visibility from and of vehicles 
emerging from the site at either access point shall be maintained as described for the duration of 
any construction or business activity on the site.   

Reason: To secure a safe and convenient transport and movement arrangement for all users of the 
site and of the local highway network, in accordance with the terms and objectives of local and 
national planning policy and guidance as set out in Policies SD1, TA5 and EQ2 of the South 
Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and in guidance contained in the NPPF 2018. 

11. No barrier or gate shall be erected across the access points within a distance into the site of 18.5 m 
from the edge of the adjoining carriageway.

Reason:  To prevent unnecessary congestion or danger occurring on the highway as a result of 
vehicles being unable to enter the site in a single manoeuvre, in accordance with the terms and 
objectives of local and national planning policy and guidance as set out in Policy T5 of the South 
Somerset Local Pplan 2006 - 2028 and in guidance contained in the NPPF 2018.

12. No floorspace within the buildings to which this permission relates shall first be used unless facilities 
have been erected or installed for the parking of 22 cycles within the site, for staff shower, changing 
room and locker provision related to each employment unit, and for two electric vehicle charging 

Page 29



points, in accordance with design details which shall have previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These cycle parking, staff facilities and electric 
vehicle charging points shall be kept available and in good working order for this purpose for the 
duration of employment activity within the site.  

Reason: To secure appropriate facilities within the development, in the interest of enabling and 
encouraging the adoption of sustainable modes of transport by users of the site, in accordance with 
the terms and objectives of Policies SD1, TA1, TA5, TA6 and EQ2 of the adopted South Somerset 
Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and with guidance set out in the NPPF 2018. 

13. Prior to the first occupation of Unit 2 a Measures-only Travel Statement, which indicates how the 
proposed development will comply with the requirements of the Lufton Employment Travel Plan as 
revised in September 2009 (ref. 2038 Travel Plan Sept 2009), shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved development shall thereafter be carried out 
and operated in accordance with the terms of the Travel Statement.  

Reason: To secure appropriate sustainable transport practices on the site, which forms part of the 
Lufton Business Park to which an over-arching Travel Plan applies, in accordance with local and 
national planning policy and guidance, as set out in Policies SD1, TA1, TA4 and EQ2 of the South 
Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and in guidance contained within the NPPF 2018.  

14. No development hereby permitted shall be first brought into use unless the parking and circulation 
spaces, including spaces identified for motor cycles and for disabled users, as indicated on the 
approved drawings have been laid out, surfaced and marked out in accordance with details that shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The parking and 
circulation space shall be retained as implemented for the duration of business activity on the site.  

Reason:  To ensure the provision of appropriate car and motorcycle parking and manoeuvring within 
the site, in the interests of the safe and convenient operation of the local highway network,  in 
accordance with the terms and objectives of local and national planning policy and guidance, as set 
out in Policies SD1, TA1, TA5, TA6 and EQ2 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028 and in 
the guidance contained in the NPPF 2018. 

15. The buildings hereby permitted shall be used only for purposes within classes B1, B2 and B8 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (or any equivalent Class in 
any other Order amending or revoking and re-enacting that Order), and shall not be used for any 
other purpose which may be permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), including any use where the prior approval of 
the Local Planning Authority may need to be sought,  without planning permission or permission in 
principle and technical details consent having first been granted for such development by the Local 
Planning Authority.  No additional floor space shall be created, by the insertion of a mezzanine, within 
either building. 

Reason: To safeguard the provision and potential provision of employment land for which the site 
has been allocated in the Local Plan, to meet the assessed employment needs of the District, and 
to ensure the provision of adequate parking provision and facilities to enable the adoption of 
sustainable modes of transport for staff and visitors to the site and to ensure the safe and convenient 
operation of the local highway network in accordance with Policies SD1, SS1, SS3, EP1, TA1, TA5, 
TA6 and EQ2 of the adopted South Somerset Local Plan 2006 - 2028, and with guidance contained 
within the NPPF 2018.

Page 30


	Agenda
	7 Yeovil Western Corridor Update
	8 Area South - Draft Area Chapter 2019/20
	9 Heart of Wessex Rail Partnership (Executive Decision)
	10 Area South Forward Plan
	11 Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee
	12 Planning Application 18/01265/FUL - Resolution Interiors Ltd George Smith Way Brympton

